THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

SEP 28 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000428

James Jefferson Jowers, Sr., Andrew J. Anastos, Ben Williamson, Melanie Ruhlman and
Anthony Ruhlman,

Appellants,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Amy E. Armstrong
Amelia A. Thompson
Jessie A. White
SOUTH CAROLINA ENVIRONMENTAL LAW
PROJECT

Mailing address: Post Office Box 1380
Pawleys Island, SC 29585

Office address: 430 Highmarket Street
Georgetown, SC 29440

Telephone (843) 527-0078

FAX (843) 527-0540

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL viii

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 1

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 2

 A. Registrations under the Surface Water Withdrawal Act 2

 B. Riparian Property Owners 7

III. ARGUMENT 10

 A. The Appellants’ Property was Unconstitutionally Taken by the Surface Water Withdrawal Act. 12

 1. Riparian Rights are Property 12

 2. The Surface Water Withdrawal Act of 2010 Harms Riparian Rights ... 16

 3. The Harm caused by the Act to Riparian Rights is an Unconstitutional Taking 18

 B. The Registration Process that Exempts Agricultural Users from Permitting Requirements in the Act Violates Due Process 22

 1. Inadequate Notice 23

 2. No Meaningful Opportunity to be Heard 25

 3. Lack of Judicial Review 26

 C. The Act Violates the Public Trust Doctrine because the State has Lost Control of a Public Trust Resource 28

 1. The Waters at Stake are Public Trust Resources 28

 2. The Public Trust Doctrine Prohibits the Transfer of Surface Waters Authorized by the Act 30

 D. Appellants have Standing to bring a Facial Challenge to the Constitutionality of the Surface Water Withdrawal Act 32

 1. Constitutional Standing 32

 2. Public Importance 37

IV. CONCLUSION 40

TABLE OF CASES, STATUTES, AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

Cases

| | |
|--|---------------|
| American Canoe Ass'n v. Murphy Farms, Inc., 326 F.3d 505 (4th Cir. 2003) | <u>37</u> |
| Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545 (1965) | <u>23</u> |
| Armstrong v. United States, 364 U.S. 40 (1960) | <u>20</u> |
| ATC Inc. v. Charleston County, 380 S.C. 191, 669 S.E.2d 337 (2008) | <u>32, 38</u> |
| Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999) | <u>38, 39</u> |
| Beaudrot v. Murphy, 53 S.C. 118, 30 S.E. 825 (1898) | <u>19</u> |
| Belvedere Development Corp. v. Department of Transp., Div. of Admin., 476 S.O.2d 649 (1985) | <u>21</u> |
| Boyd v. Winnsboro Granite Co., 66 S.C. 433 (1903) | <u>20</u> |
| Brown v. South Carolina State Bd. Of Educ., 301 S.C. 326, 391 S.E.2d 866 (1990) | <u>25, 26</u> |
| Byrd v. City of Hartsville, 365 S.C. 650, 620 S.E.2d 76 (2005) | <u>18-20</u> |
| Casitas Mun. Water Dist. v. United States, 543 F.3d 1276, 1292 (Fed. Cir. 2008) | <u>12, 13</u> |
| Chick Springs Water Co. v. State Highway Dep't, 159 S.C. 481, 157 S.E. 842 (1931) | <u>18</u> |
| Clarke v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Auth., 177 S.C. 427, 181 S.E. 481 (1935) | <u>30</u> |
| Clemson Univ. v. First Provident Corp., 260 S.C. 640, 197 S.E.2d 914 (1973) | <u>19</u> |
| Coe v. Armour Fertilizer Works, 237 U.S. 413 (1915) | <u>26</u> |
| DaimlerChrysler Corp. v. Cuno, 547 U.S. 332 (2006) | <u>33</u> |
| Davis v. Richland Cnty. Council, 372 S.C. 497, 642 S.E.2d 740 (2007) | <u>39</u> |
| Early v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Auth., 228 S.C. 392, 90 S.E.2d 472 (1955) | <u>19</u> |
| Federal Election Comm'n. v. Akins, 524 U.S. 11 (1988) | <u>36</u> |
| Gasque v. Town of Conway, 194 S.C. 15, 8 S.E.2d 871 (1940) | <u>21</u> |

| | |
|---|-------------------------------------|
| Grimsley v. S. Carolina Law Enft Div., 396 S.C. 276, 721 S.E.2d 423 (2012) | <u>11</u> |
| Illinois Central R. Co. v. Illinois, 146 U.S. 387 (1892) | <u>30</u> |
| Leventis v. S. Carolina Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 340 S.C. 118, 530 S.E.2d 643 (Ct. App.:2000) | <u>23, 24</u> |
| Lowe v. Ottaray Mills, 93 S.C. 420, 77 S.E. 135, 136 (1913) | <u>12, 13, 15</u> |
| Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 505 U.S. 1003 (1992) | <u>19</u> |
| Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992) | <u>33</u> |
| Mathewes v. Port Utilities Comm'n of Charleston, S.C., 32 F.2d 913 (E.D.S.C. 1929) | <u>13</u> |
| Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893 (1976) | <u>26</u> |
| McCall by Andrews v. Batson, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E.2d 741 (1985) | <u>16</u> |
| McMahan v. Walhalla Light & Power Co., 102 S.C. 57, 86 S.E. 194, 195 (1915) | <u>13, 15</u> |
| McQueen v. S. Carolina Coastal Council, 354 S.C. 142, 580 S.E.2d 116 (2003) .. | <u>11, 28, 29, 31,</u> <u>34</u> |
| Moss v. S. Carolina State Highway Dep't, 223 S.C. 282, 75 S.E.2d 462 (1953) ... | <u>11, 15, 18, 21</u> |
| Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306 (1950) | <u>24, 25</u> |
| Ogburn-Matthews v. Loblolly Partners, 332 S.C. 551, 505 S.E.2d 598 (Ct. App. 1998) | <u>23</u> |
| Omelvany v. Jagers, 1835 WL 1419 (May 1835) | <u>12, 13, 15</u> |
| Parish v. Town of Yorkville, 96 S.C. 24, 79 S.E. 635 (1913) | <u>21</u> |
| Pye v. U.S., 269 F.3d 459 (4th Cir. 2001) | <u>36</u> |
| Rice Hope Plantation v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Auth., 216 S.C. 500, 59 S.E.2d 132 (1950) ... | <u>16</u> |
| Ruckelshaus v. Monsanto Co., 467 U.S. 986 (1984) | <u>12-14</u> |
| S. Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. S. Carolina Transp. Infrastructure Bank, 403 S.C. 640, 744 S.E.2d 521 (2013) | <u>38</u> |

| | |
|--|-----------------------|
| Schlesinger v. Reservists Comm. to Stop the War, 418 U.S. 208 (1974) | <u>37</u> |
| Schroeder v. City of New York, 371 U.S. 208 (1962) | <u>12, 13, 24, 25</u> |
| Sea Pines Ass'n for the Prot. Of Wildlife v. S.C. Dep't of Natural Res., 345 S.C. 594, 550 S.E.2d 287 (2001) | <u>33</u> |
| Sierra Club v. Kiawah Resort Assocs., 318 S.C. 119, 456 S.E.2d 397 (1995) | <u>29, 30, 32</u> |
| Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727 (1972) | <u>36</u> |
| Sloan v. Dep't of Transp., 365 S.C. 299, 618 S.E.2d 876 (2005) | <u>39</u> |
| Sloan v. Sanford, 357 S.C. 431, 593 S.E.2d 470 (2004) | <u>38</u> |
| Smiley v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 374 S.C. 326, 649 S.E.2d 31 (2007) | <u>33</u> |
| Smith v. Greenville, 229 S. C. 252, 92 S. E. 2d 639 (1956) | <u>19</u> |
| South Carolina State Highway Department v. Wilson, 254 S.C. 360, 175 S.E.2d 391 (1970) . . | <u>20</u> |
| Spradley v. South Carolina State Highway Department, 256 S.C. 431, 182 S.E.2d 735 (1971) . | <u>20</u> |
| State v. Hardee, 259 S.C. 535, 193 S.E.2d 497 (1972) | <u>29</u> |
| State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 498 S.E.2d 389 (1997) | <u>29</u> |
| Stoddard v. W. Carolina Reg'l Sewer Auth., 784 F.2d 1200 (4th Cir. 1986) | <u>19, 20</u> |
| Stono River Envtl. Protection Ass'n v. S. Carolina Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control, 305 S.C. 90, 406 S.E.2d 340 (1991) | <u>23</u> |
| Tahoe-Sierra Preservation Council, Inc. v. Tahoe Regional Planning Agency, 535 U.S. 302 (2002) | <u>20</u> |
| U.S. v. SCRAP, 412 U.S. 669 (1973) | <u>36</u> |
| White v. Whitney Mfg. Co., 38 S.E. 456, 461 (1901) | <u>13, 15, 21</u> |
| White's Mill Colony Inc. v. Williams, 363 S.C. 117, 609 S.E.2d 811 (Ct. App 2005) | <u>15</u> |
| Yates v. Milwaukee, 77 U.S. 497, 504 (1870) | <u>12</u> |

Young v. Wiggins, 240 S.C. 426, 126 S.E.2d 360 (1962) 21

Statutes

Ala. Code Ann. § 9-10b-2 (1975) 28

Ark. Code Ann. § 15-22-215 (1975) 28

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 22a-365 to 380 (1995) 28

Del. Code Ann. Tit. 7 §6001 (1973) 28

Fla. Stat. Ann. §373.219 (1972) 28

Ga. Code Ann. § 12-5-31 (1964) 28

Haw. Rev. Stat. § 174-C5 (1987) 28

Iowa Code §445B.268 (1982) 28

Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 151.140 (1978) 28

Mass. Gen. Laws Ann. ch. 21G §3 (1985) 28

Md. Code Ann., Envir. §5-501 (1973) 28

Miss. Code Ann. § 5-3-13 (2001) 28

N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 143-215.15 28

N.J. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 58 28

N.Y. Env'tl. Conserv. Law §15-1501 (1997) 28

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-120 4

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-20 2, 5

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-25 3

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-80 3, 4, 6

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-100 4

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-110 5, 16, 27

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-35 5, 6, 16, 27, 35

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-50 4, 5

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-55 6

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-90 4

South Carolina Surface Water Withdrawal, Permitting Use and Reporting Act of 2010, S.C.
Code Ann. §§ 49-4-10 to 49-4-180 1, 2, 5, 35

Va. Code Ann. §62.1-247 (1989) 28

Wis. Stat. Ann. §30.18 (1999) 28

Constitutions

S.C. Const. art. I, § 13 18, 19

S.C. Const. art. XIV, § 4 28

U.S. Const. amend. V 19, 20, 23

U.S. Const. amend. XIV 23

Other Authorities

Jean H. Toal, Edens: The Prime Obstacle to a Redevelopment of South Carolina Water Law, 23
S.C. L. Rv. 63 (1971) 18

Josh Eagle, Coastal Law, Wolters Kluwer (2011) 14, 15, 22

Robert Meltz, Takings Law Today: A Primer for the Perplexed, 34 Ecology L.Q. 307, 317 (2007)
..... 13, 14

Syridon and LeBlanc, The Overriding Public Interest in Privately Owned Natural Resources:
Fashioning a Cause of Action, 6 Tul.Envtl.L.J. 287 (1993) 30

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Was the Appellants' Property Unconstitutionally Taken by the Surface Water Withdrawal Act?
- II. Does the Registration Process that Exempts Agricultural Users from Permitting Requirements in the Surface Water Withdrawal Act Violate Due Process?
- III. Does the Surface Water Withdrawal Act Violate the Public Trust Doctrine because the State has Lost Control of a Public Trust Resource?
- IV. Do the Appellants have Standing to bring a Facial Challenge to the Constitutionality of the Surface Water Withdrawal Act?

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the circuit court's grant of summary judgment to the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ("Department" or "Respondent") by order dated January 4, 2016. On September 4, 2014, James Jefferson Jowers, Sr., Andrew J. Anastos, Ben Williamson, Melanie Ruhlman and Anthony Ruhlman ("Riparian Property Owners" or "Appellants") filed the present facial challenge to the constitutionality of the South Carolina Surface Water Withdrawal, Permitting Use and Reporting Act of 2010, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 49-4-10 to 49-4-180 ("the Act") for lack of due process, violation of the public trust doctrine, and the taking of riparian property rights through the Act's agricultural use registration program.

On November 13, 2014, the Department filed a motion to dismiss. On November 21, 2014, the Riparian Property Owners filed a motion for preliminary injunction. Both motions were heard and denied at a hearing on January 15, 2015.

On January 28, 2015, the Department answered the complaint, defending the constitutionality of the Act and asserting several affirmative defenses, including lack of standing and ripeness.

On February 13, 2015, the Department filed a petition for extraordinary relief including removal and original jurisdiction in the South Carolina Supreme Court. That petition was denied on April 9, 2015, and discovery proceeded thereafter.

On September 14, 2015, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment, which were heard on November 17, 2015. On January 4, 2016, the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. issued an Order denying the Riparian Property Owners' motion for summary judgment and granting the Department's motion for summary judgment. On February 23, 2016, the Appellants

served a Notice of Appeal in the Court of Appeals. On March 26, 2016, Appellants filed a Motion to Transfer the case to this Court, which was granted on April 19, 2016.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Registrations under the Surface Water Withdrawal Act

On Thursday, June 24, 2010, Governor Mark Sanford signed the Surface Water Withdrawal, Permitting Use and Reporting Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 49-4-10 to 49-4-180. The purpose of the law was to regulate the use of water from the State's rivers and streams.

The Department is the agency charged with the implementation and enforcement of the Surface Water Withdrawal Act. The Act establishes two mechanisms authorizing withdrawal of surface waters – a permitting system and a registration system. Significantly for this case, the Act allows riparian owners who are consuming water for agricultural uses to simply “register” their water use, rather than seek a permit. The Act does not restrict the amount of water that any one agricultural user can consume on a daily, annual, or total basis and the registration never expires. Registration does not require notice to adjacent riparian owners, nor does it provide those owners with an opportunity to object.

Under the Act, a “surface water withdrawer”¹ is generally required to apply for a permit. S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-25.² The Act establishes a permitting program whereby an applicant provides detailed information about its proposed surface water withdrawals. S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-80. In turn, the Department must make a reasonableness determination for the proposed use, in consideration of enumerated criteria,³ and make various other findings concerning the

¹ “‘Surface water withdrawer’ means a person withdrawing surface water in excess of three million gallons during any one month from a single intake or multiple intakes under common ownership within a one mile radius from any one existing or proposed intake.” S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-20 (28). “‘Withdrawal’ means to remove surface water from its natural course or location, or exercising physical control over surface water in its natural course or location, regardless of whether the water is returned to its waters of origin, consumed, transferred to another river basin, or discharged elsewhere.” S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-20 (29).

² “Except as provided in Sections 49-4-30, 49-4-35, 49-4-40, and 49-4-45, all surface water withdrawals by a surface water withdrawer are unlawful unless made pursuant to a surface water withdrawal permit issued pursuant to this chapter.” S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-25.

³

To determine whether an applicant's proposed use is reasonable, the department must consider the following criteria:(1) the minimum instream flow or minimum water level and the safe yield for the surface water source at the location of the proposed surface water withdrawal;(2) the anticipated effect of the applicant's proposed use on existing users of the same surface water source including, but not limited to, present agricultural, municipal, industrial, electrical generation, and instream users;(3) the reasonably foreseeable future need for the surface water including, but not limited to, reasonably foreseeable agricultural, municipal, industrial, electrical generation, and instream uses;(4) whether it is reasonably foreseeable that the applicant's proposed withdrawals would result in a significant, detrimental impact on navigation, fish and wildlife habitat, or recreation;(5) the applicant's reasonably foreseeable future water needs from that surface water;(6) the beneficial impact on the State and its political subdivisions from a proposed withdrawal;(7) the impact of applicable industry standards on the efficient use of water, if followed by the applicant;(8) the anticipated effect of the applicant's proposed use on the following if the permit is granted:(a) interstate and intrastate water use;(b) public health and welfare;(c) economic development and the economy of the State; and(d) applicable federal laws and interstate agreements and compacts; and(9) any other reasonable criteria that the department promulgates by regulation that it considers necessary to make a final determination.

water supply, adequacy of flow, significance of withdrawal, etc. S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-80. Additionally, if the public requests a hearing on the permit or if it is a new application, The Department must conduct one. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 49-4-80 (K) (1), 49-4-90.

“Upon a determination by the department that, based upon its examination of the criteria in [S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-80] (B), the applicant's use is reasonable, the department shall issue a permit to the applicant.” S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-80 (J). Permits are issued for a defined time period ranging from twenty (20) to fifty (50) years. See S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-100 (B). Once the permit issues, it may be revoked for any one of several listed reasons,⁴ including any violation of the terms or certain changes in the natural conditions. S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-120 (A). Permit holders are also subject to reporting requirements. S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-50.

In contrast, the Act contains a registration process for agricultural users,⁵ exempting those

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-80 (B).

4

The department may modify, suspend, or revoke a permit under the following conditions: (1) the permit holder withdraws water not authorized by his permit or fails to comply with the terms and conditions of his permit; (2) the permit holder obtains a permit by misrepresentation or fails to disclose a material fact in his application; (3) the permit holder ceases to withdraw water for a period of at least thirty-six consecutive months; or (4) a permanent change in natural conditions results in a permitted activity endangering human health or the environment.

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-120 (A).

5

“Agricultural use” means:(a) plowing, tilling, or preparing the soil at an agricultural facility;(b) planting, growing, fertilizing, or harvesting crops, ornamental horticulture, floriculture, and turf grasses;(c) application of pesticides, herbicides, or other chemicals, compounds, or substances to crops, weeds, or soil in connection with the production of crops, livestock, animals, or poultry;(d) breeding, hatching, raising, producing, feeding, keeping, slaughtering, or processing livestock, hogs, aquatic animals, equines, chickens, turkeys, poultry, or other fowl normally raised for

users from the permitting process that all other water users must undertake. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 49-4-35, 49-4-50. Only agricultural users of water are entitled to register their water use. See S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-20 (23) (“‘Registered surface water withdrawer’ means a person who makes surface water withdrawals for agricultural uses at an agricultural facility⁶ that is filing a report pursuant to Section 49-4-50.”). The Act provides for an even more abbreviated approval process for existing surface water withdrawers. S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-35(B) (“An existing registered surface water withdrawer already reporting its withdrawals to the department as of January 1, 2011, may maintain its withdrawals at its highest reported level or at the design capacity of the intake structure which will be permanent as of January 1, 2011, and is deemed to be registered with the department.”). The Act does not restrict the amount of water than any one registered surface water withdrawer can consume on a daily, annual, or total basis and the registration never expires. S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-10, et seq.

Once an agricultural user has registered its water use, its surface water withdrawals are “presumed to be reasonable,” S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-110 (B), even though a registered surface

food, mules, cattle, sheep, goats, rabbits, or similar farm animals for commercial purposes;(e) producing and keeping honeybees, producing honeybee products, and honeybee processing facilities;(f) producing, processing, or packaging eggs or egg products;(g) manufacturing feed for poultry or livestock;(h) rotation of crops;(i) commercial aquaculture;(j) application of existing, changed, or new technology, practices, processes, or procedures to an agricultural use;(k) the operation of a roadside market; and(l) silviculture.

S.C. Code Ann. § 49-4-20 (3).

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