ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas
R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000428

RECEIVED

SEP 26 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

James Jefferson Jowers, Sr., Andrew J. Anastos, Ben Williamson,
Melanie Ruhlman and Anthony Ruhlman. Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control Respondent,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ROBERT D. COOK
Solicitor General
S.C. Bar No. 1373

J. EMORY SMITH, JR.
Deputy Solicitor General
S.C. Bar No. 5262

T. PARKIN C. HUNTER
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 2827

Post Office Box 11549

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

ARGUMENT

Appellants have brought this action challenging the constitutionality of the Surface Water Withdrawal Act without any injury to establish standing and without any property right that has been infringed. Instead, they make claims based upon possible future events and loss of water consumption that may never occur. They claim that the law limits their ability to protect against such events, but the Act does not remove any common law right that they may have to challenge any limitation on such water use. Appellants' case is based on speculation about hypothetical future events and such speculation is not a proper foundation for a lawsuit. In short, they seek an advisory ruling, but this Court has made quite clear that it "will not issue advisory opinions" *Sangamo Weston, Inc. v. National Sur. Corp.*, 414 S.E.2d 127, 130, 307 S.C. 143, 148 (1992).

I

APPELLANTS LACK STANDING TO BRING THIS ACTION

Standing to sue is a fundamental requirement in instituting an action." *Joytime Distribs. & Amusement Co. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 639, 528 S.E.2d 647, 649 (1999). Under our current jurisprudence, there are three ways in which a party can acquire this fundamental threshold of standing: (1) by statute; (2) through what is called "constitutional standing"; and (3) under the public importance exception. *ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 195, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008).

Bodman v. State, 403 S.C. 60, 66-67, 742 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2013). Appellants claim that they have constitutional standing and public importance standing, but they have neither, as found by the the Circuit Court.

A

Appellants Fail to Meet Constitutional Requirements for Standing

The principle of standing under the United States Constitution is “an essential and unchanging part of the case-or-controversy requirement of Article III.” *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992). The Supreme Court has provided a three-part test to establish standing: First, the plaintiff must have suffered an “injury in fact”—an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized, and (b) “actual or imminent, not ‘conjectural’ or ‘hypothetical.’” Second, there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of—the injury has to be “fairly . . . trace[able] to the challenged action of the defendant, and not . . . th[e] result [of] the independent action of some third party not before the court.” Third, it must be “likely,” as opposed to merely “speculative,” that the injury will be “redressed by a favorable decision.” *Lujan*, 504 U.S. at 560–61 (internal citations omitted).

ATC S., *supra*, 380 S.C. 191, 195-96, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008) “Constitutional standing requires, at a minimum, that the party bringing the action sustain a direct injury or the immediate danger a direct injury will be sustained.” *Commander Health Care Facilities, Inc. v. S. Carolina Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 370 S.C. 296, 301, 634 S.E.2d 664, 666 (Ct. App. 2006).

The Circuit Court found that Appellants, “their property and their use thereof had not been injured by any agricultural water withdrawal and they have not loss use of the waterways.” R. p. 4. “[T]hey have no injury at all.” R. p. 4. Although they include an assertion without foundation in the record that “the Act is causing, and continues to cause, the loss of public uses” (Brief of Appellants at p. 35), Appellants do not argue that they have lost use of their land or the adjacent waterways. Instead, they claim injuries due to alleged denials of rights even though they have not suffered any loss of use of waterways to give them cause to assert such alleged rights. As stated by the Circuit Court:

[Appellants] claim a loss of property rights to challenge a use under the law, but as discussed, *infra*, they have no property rights and have lost no right to challenge a loss as unreasonable. They claim a loss of public trust interest in the water, but they rely on cases

applicable to tidal waters rather than fresh water. They have no public trust interest that has been violated as to the waters on which they border. Accordingly, [Appellants] have no standing and have not brought a justiciable controversy to this Court.

In other words, they claim a loss of property rights and public trust interests that they never possessed as an alleged basis for challenging losses that have not occurred.

Appellants contend that they “do not have to wait until they cannot make any consumptive use of the water to bring suit” (Appellants’ Brief at p. 36), but the Circuit Court found that they lacked standing because they “have not been injured whatsoever by any agricultural water withdrawal.” R. p. 14 (emphasis added).¹ What degree of loss of use might give Appellants standing in the future need not be reached because so far, they have no loss and therefore, no standing. As stated by the Circuit Court in discussing improper venue, Appellants’ “decision to bring their suit in a county from which they are completely disconnected [Barnwell] underscores their lack of injury to support standing.” R. p. 18.

B

Appellants Have No Public Importance Standing

The key to the public importance analysis is whether a resolution is needed for future guidance. It is this concept of “future guidance” that gives meaning to an issue which transcends a purely private matter and rises to the level of public importance. *Baird*, 333 S.C. at 531, 511 S.E.2d at 75 (“[A] court may confer standing upon a party when an issue is of such public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance.”) (citations omitted); *Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. at 434, 593 S.E.2d at 472 (“[U]nder certain circumstances, standing may be conferred upon a party when an issue is of such public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance.”) (citations omitted).

¹ Appellants do not appear to rely on claims of future harm despite this reference to future consumptive use and their complaint’s assertion of “theoretically possible” harm, nor could they do so. As found by the Circuit Court, a “prospective concern of future harm” is not sufficient to satisfy the *Lujan* test.” *Commander Health Care Facilities*, 634 S.E.2d at 667.

ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty., *supra*, 669 S.E.2d at 341.

Appellants reference DHEC's statement in its Petition for Extraordinary Relief to the Supreme Court that the law is significant, but they do not note that public interest for seeking original jurisdiction is not the same as public importance for establishing standing. As stated in *Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Ass'n*, 407 S.C. 67, 71, 753 S.E.2d 846, 848 (2014):

Rule 245 is concerned with whether a case should be resolved by this Court in the first instance because of the public interest involved and the need for prompt resolution, whereas the public importance exception is concerned with whether a case is of such public importance that the requirement of standing should be waived. Thus, because the two rules aim to answer different questions—whether the public interest requires expeditious resolution of a case versus whether the public interest requires resolution of a dispute for future guidance despite the lack of standing—the grant of the petition for original jurisdiction has no effect upon whether the public importance exception applies.

Carnival Corp. 753 S.E.2d 846 at 853. *Carnival* found a lack of public importance standing. As found by the Circuit Court, “[s]uch importance is absent here, as well, for the reasons noted above.” R. p. 7.

Appellants set forth no reason why future guidance is needed here other than “whether South Carolina will continue to recognize riparian rights or allow private-to-private property transfers in direct contradiction of our state constitution.” Appellants’ Brief at p. 40. As referenced above and discussed *infra*, Appellants have no property interests upon which to base their claims and they have suffered no loss of use. Further, as stated by the Circuit Court, “[t]he statute has been in effect for nearly five years since January 1, 2011, and DHEC is not informed that any other suits have been brought challenging the Act. Act No. 247, § 1 2010 S.C. Acts.

When Appellants do not complain of any actual or imminent water withdrawals affecting them and when other challenges have not been made to the law, ‘future guidance’ is not needed.” R. p. 6 (Order at p. 6).

II

THIS CASE PRESENTS NO JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY AND IS NOT RIPE FOR ADJUDICATION

“A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a contingent, hypothetical or abstract dispute.” *Pee Dee Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 279 S.C. 64, 66, 301 S.E.2d 761, 762 (1983). *See also Hitter v. McLeod*, 274 S.C. 616, 266 S.E.2d 418 (1980). In determining a ripeness issue under the “case or controversy” requirement of Article III of the United States Constitution, federal courts use a two-factor test: (1) the fitness of the issues for judicial decision, and (2) the hardship to the parties of withholding court consideration. *Fort Sumter Tours, Inc. v. Andrus*, 564 F.2d 1119 (4th Cir.1977) . . . *Thrifty Rent-A-Car Sys., Inc. v. Thrifty Auto Sales of Charleston, Inc.*, 849 F.Supp. 1083, 1085–86 (D.S.C.1991) (stating additionally that a “court should not decide a controversy grounded in uncertain and contingent events that may not occur as anticipated or may not occur at all”).

Waters v. S. Carolina Land Res. Conservation Comm'n, 321 S.C. 219, 227-28, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917-18 (1996); *see also James v. Anne's Inc.*, 701 S.E.2d 730, 732, 390 S.C. 188, 192-93 (2010).

The Circuit Court noted the above quotation by the Supreme Court from District Judge Norton’s Opinion in *Thrifty Rent-A-Car*, and stated as follows:

this court should not decide a controversy grounded in uncertain and contingent events that may not occur as anticipated or may not occur at all.” The withdrawals that Plaintiffs claim may not occur at all or not in any way that might injure Plaintiffs. If such withdrawals do occur in the future, and Plaintiffs believe that they have been injured, they can attempt to bring their action then as did the *Laidlaw* Plaintiffs. They can attempt to seek temporary injunctive relief. Clearly, at this point, this case does not present a justiciable controversy that is ripe for adjudication. [footnote omitted]

R. p. 7).

III

APPELLANTS HAVE NO PROPERTY INTEREST THAT HAS BEEN TAKEN

Appellants claim takings of their “riparian property rights,” but they have no property rights in the waters of this state upon which to bring a takings or due process claim nor have they suffered any loss if they did have such rights.

A

They Have No Property Interest To Establish a Takings or Substantive Due Process Claim

A property interest is required to establish a takings or substantive due process claim. *Grimsley v. S. Carolina Law Enforcement Div.*, 396 S.C. 276, 283-84, 721 S.E.2d 423, 427 (2012).² South Carolina law is quite clear, and the Circuit Court recognized, that Appellants have no property interest in the waters of the State. R. pp. 9 and 10; *Omelvany v. Jagers*, 20 S.C.L. 634,

² As stated in *Grimsley*:

The Takings Clause provides that private property shall not be taken for public use without just compensation. *Rick's Amusement, Inc. v. State*, 351 S.C. 352, 357, 570 S.E.2d 155, 157 (2001). Similarly, to prove a denial of substantive due process, a party must show that he was arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of a cognizable property interest rooted in state law. *Worsley Co. v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 339 S.C. 51, 56, 528 S.E.2d 657, 660 (2000). Thus, parties claiming such violations must first show they have a legitimate property interest. Property interests “are created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that stem from an independent source such as state law—rules or understandings that secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement to those benefits.” *Snipes v. McAndrew*, 280 S.C. 320, 324, 313 S.E.2d 294, 297 (1984) (citing *Bd. of Regents of State Colls. v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564 (1972)).

638, 1835 WL 1419, at *3 (S.C.App.L & Eq. 1835)³. They state that they do not allege an ownership right in the water, but “rather the right to reasonable use of the water.” Brief of Appellant at p. 13. Under South Carolina law, a claim of right of use in the waters passing an owner’s land does not give the Appellants a foundation for bringing a takings or substantive due process claim against the State. “[A]n owner of land adjacent to navigable waters, whose fast lands are left uninvasion, has no private riparian rights of access to the waters to do such things as ‘fishing and boating and the like’, for which rights the government must pay.” *Rice Hope Plantation v. South Carolina Public Service Authority*, 59 S.E.2d 132, 144, 216 S.C. 500, 528 (S.C. 1950) overruled in part on other grounds by *McCall v. Batson*, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E.2d 741 (1985)(emphasis in *Rice Hope*). Moreover, no restrictions existed on the withdrawals of water at common law by adjacent landowners other than what is “reasonable.” *Lowe v. Ottaray Mills*, 77 S.E. 135, 137 (S.C. 1913), *see infra*, p. 11.

White’s Mill Colony, Inc. v. Williams, 363 S.C. 117, 609 S.E. 2d 811, 817 (Ct. App. 2005) is not contrary to the claims in this case. The Court of Appeals stated in that decision that “[u]nder the common law, owners of land along rivers, streams, lakes and other bodies of water possess a property right incident to their ownership of the bank and bed of a watercourse that is distinct from those rights that may be enjoyed by the public at large. In general, these special rights allow abutting landowners to make ‘reasonable use’ of the body of water for any lawful purpose, whether for commerce or recreation.” Appellants cite this case but do not

³ “[T]he proprietor of each bank of a [non-tidal] stream is the proprietor of half the land covered by the stream, but there is no property in the water. . . . He has no property in the water itself, but a simple use of it while it passes along.” *Id* (emphasis added) quoting 3 Kent’s Com. 353; *accord*, *White v. Whitney Mfg. Co.*, 38 S.E. 456, 459 (S.C. 1901)(proprietor “has no property in the water itself” quoting 3 Kent, Comm. 353).

quote this language and with good reason. At issue in *White's Mill* was access to the surface waters not what Appellants state is the "the property at issue . . . the . . . riparian right to consume water" (Appellants' Brief at 15).

Omelvany makes clear that no property interest exists in the water, itself, and *Lowe* demonstrates that only a reasonable use standard limits use of the waters by upstream landowners. Moreover, under *Rice Hope*, "no private riparian rights of access to the waters [exist]. . . for which the government must pay." Appellants quote *Moss v. South Carolina State Highway Dept.*, 75 S.E.2d 462, 464, 223 S.C. 282, 287 (S.C. 1953) that "[p]roperty in a thing consists not merely in its ownership and possession, but in the unrestricted right of use, enjoyment, and disposal." Appellants lack that crucial threshold element of ownership of the "thing," in this case the water.

B

The Act Does Not Deprive Appellants of Any Rights

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